FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 12/6/2019 9:20 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/10/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 97953-7

NO. 78256-8-I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,
v.
ZAHID KHAN,
Petitioner.
PPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE E OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY
The Honorable David Svaren, Judge
PETITION FOR REVIEW

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. <u>Procedural Facts</u>

Khan was born in Pakistan; his first language is Urdu. <u>In re Pers.</u> <u>Restraint of Khan</u>, 184 Wn.2d 679, 683, 363 P.3d 577 (2015). He is incarcerated pursuant to criminal convictions resulting from a trial at which he testified in English without an interpreter. <u>Id.</u> at 682. In 2015, he filed a personal restraint petition alleging violations of his constitutional and statutory rights to an interpreter. <u>Id.</u>

This Court concluded Khan's confusion over the word "erection" suggested a limited ability to understand questions or meaningfully respond and was concerned there may be other such instances. <u>Id.</u> at 692. However, this Court found the record insufficient because Khan had not identified what, specifically, he would have done differently with an interpreter. <u>Id.</u> at 691. The court remanded for a reference hearing to determine whether Khan was entitled to an interpreter and, if so, whether he was prejudiced by the lack of an interpreter. <u>Id.</u>

After a reference hearing, the superior court found Khan's English ability was such that his constitutional right to an interpreter was not violated, but he was entitled to an interpreter under Washington law. CP 15-16. The court also found Khan did not establish prejudice from the statutory violation because he did not show what he would have done differently with

an interpreter. CP 15. The court denied Khan's personal restraint petition. CP 15-16.

Khan appealed from the court's findings and conclusions after the reference hearing. CP 9. The Court of Appeals concluded substantial evidence supported the superior court's findings regarding the lack of prejudice. App. at 13. Khan now seeks this Court's review.

2. Trial

In 2007, Khan lived with his wife Eram Mirza, her daughter from a previous marriage, R.H., and the couple's two younger children. Ex. 17 (11/27/07RP 140). On July 16, several extended family members were in town for a celebration. Ex. 17 (11/27/07RP 151). R.H. was sleeping on the couch in the loft area with her two younger siblings on the floor nearby. Ex. 17 (11/27/07RP 153-56).

Mirza and her sister went down the street to visit a third sister, while Khan remained at home to go to bed because he had to work in the morning. Ex. 17 (11/27/07RP 156-57). When Mirza and her sister returned after midnight, they heard R.H. call out for her mother and heard Khan say, "Shut up." Ex. 17 (11/27/07RP 161). They testified that, when they went upstairs, they saw Khan with a full erection standing near R.H. Ex. 17(11/27/07RP 165).

R.H. testified Khan had squeezed her breasts in 2004 shortly after the family moved to Bothell. Ex. 17 (11/27/07RP 53-57). Another time, she fell asleep on the couch watching television and woke to find Khan moving his finger in and out of her anus. Ex. 17 (11/27/07RP 66-68). On another occasion, when she was 13 or 14, she woke to find Khan's finger moving in and out of her vagina. Ex. 17 (11/27/07RP 71-72). She claimed this happened several other times, but she was afraid to tell anyone. Ex. 17 (11/27/07RP 75-76). With the other family members visiting in 2007, she felt safer and told her mother this had been happening for a long time. Ex. 17 (11/27/07RP 77-79).

Khan denied the allegations and testified that night he was only in the room to cover his younger daughter with a blanket. Ex. 14 (11/28/07RP 344). Khan denied ever touching his stepdaughter inappropriately and denied having an erection in her presence on that night in 2007 or, indeed, ever. Ex. 14 (11/28/07RP 345, 351-52, 372).

On cross-examination, the prosecutor asked him, "You don't ever get erections?" Ex. 14 (11/28/07RP 358). He answered, "No. No." <u>Id.</u> Later, she asked again, "So you want to show that you didn't have an erection?" Ex. 14 (11/28/07RP 372). He answered, "I don't have erection." <u>Id.</u> The exchange continued, "Q. Ever? A. Never. Ever. Look at this, this my family. Okay, front of my kids, what I'm showing this kind of thing? I am respectable

person." <u>Id.</u> Later, on redirect, his attorney asked Khan, "she asked you, Do you ever have erections, and you said no." Ex. 14 (11/28/07RP 394). Khan answered, "No." Id. Defense counsel clarified, "Do you mean ever, ever, or just –" <u>Id.</u> Khan explained, "In front of my wife. I live with my wife. I have erection because when I sleep with her, without erection I cannot do make my kids." Id. The exchange continued, "Q. But what did you mean that you don't have an erection? A. I mean not in front of kids. I just stay inside my home, inside the room, whenever I do, inside my room." Id.

At other times, Khan was confused about the meanings of words such as "curse," and the phrase "get along with" someone. Ex. 14 (11/28/07RP 349, 401-02). Another problem arose when Khan was asked whether he has been married the whole time. Ex. 14 (11/28/07RP 340). Despite being married at that time to his first and only wife, Khan answered, "No." Id. Only on clarification was he able to give an accurate answer. Id.

Khan was also unable to answer questions such as "Who else was upstairs other than the children?" Ex. 14 (11/28/07RP 342-43). In response, he testified, "No, nobody upstairs." <u>Id.</u> In the next few questions, he agreed the grandmother and her friend were also upstairs, but in a bedroom rather than out in the loft area. <u>Id.</u>

In closing argument, the prosecutor argued Khan's denial of ever having an erection showed he was not credible. Ex. 16 (11/29/07RP 63). She argued:

I don't get erections. That's what he said the first time. Later he said – and I asked him again, You don't get erections? No, I don't get erections. That wasn't natural or credible. He was trying to say whatever he can to make himself look better. Later he said, well, I did have the children, so in the bedroom. But apparently his erections are limited to that place. I would submit to you that that is not credible. His testimony in general was not credible. It's not supported by any of the other evidence, and he was caught not telling the truth a couple of times or being confused.

<u>Id.</u> There was no physical or corroborating evidence. The jury's decision at trial rested solely on whether they believed R.H.'s accusations or Khan's protestations of innocence.

3. Reference Hearing

At the reference hearing, the court was charged by this Court with answering two questions: whether Khan was entitled to an interpreter and, if so, whether there was a reasonable probability that, absent counsel's errors, the outcome of the trial would have been different. In re Pers. Restraint of Khan, 184 Wn.2d 679, 692-93, 363 P.3d 577 (2015). Khan called two witnesses: Dr. Robert Leonard, a forensic linguist, and Jay Stansell, an experienced defense attorney.

Leonard testified Khan's answers showed he did not understand the word "erection" and his limited English proficiency resulted in misunderstandings of other common words. RP 144, 313. For example, Khan was asked what time he had to be at work. Ex. 14 (11/28/07RP 371). He replied there was no limit. Id. The next question asked why he left for work so early. Id. He answered that he had to be there at eight. Id. Both answers – that there is no time limit and that he has to be there at eight – cannot be true. Leonard identified this as another example of Khan being unable to understand and meaningfully answer the questions put to him. RP 153. He noted at least 20 instances of misunderstanding at trial. RP 148. Leonard found Khan's English proficiency was very limited, but his incomprehensible statements were ignored in the interest of getting on with the trial. RP 133, 136. He explained that, with an interpreter, this lack of precision in Khan's testimony would not have occurred. RP 171.

Stansell testified the lack of an interpreter was "bound to affect the jury." RP 87-88. He identified 50 to 100 instances in which Khan's inability to understand or meaningfully answer the questions put to him made him seem evasive. RP 96. For example, Khan's inability to answer simple questions such as whether he was still married showed Khan did not understand the questions. RP 89. He estimated that 30 percent of Khan's testimony was incomprehensible. RP 101. He testified competent defense

counsel would not offer so much meaningless testimony by his client. RP 101. Stansell could not believe a jury would be able to view Khan as credible under such circumstances. RP 96.

Khan's defense attorney, prosecutor, and judge from the 2007 trial all testified that it never occurred to them that he needed an interpreter. RP 209, 225-26, 245, 297-98. The prosecutor admitted her argument about the erection testimony was a useful one for the State. RP 311.

D. <u>REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED AND ARGUMENT</u>

THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW, VINDICATE KHAN'S RIGHTS TO AN INTERPRETER AND TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, AND GRANT HIS PERSONAL RESTRAINT PETITION.

All accused persons are constitutionally entitled to effective assistance of defense counsel. In re Pers. Restraint of Burlingame, 3 Wn. App. 2d 600, 608, 416 P.3d 1269 (2018) (citing U.S. Const. amend. VI; Const. art. I, § 22; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)). This right is violated when (1) counsel performs in an unreasonably deficient manner and (2) counsel's errors undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. Id. As a personal restraint petitioner, Khan is entitled to relief when a preponderance of the evidence shows he was prejudiced by his attorney's failings. In re Pers. Restraint of Brett, 142 Wn.2d 868, 874, 16 P.3d 601 (2001) (citing In re Pers. Restraint

of Cook, 114 Wn.2d 802, 814, 792 P.2d 506 (1990)). Ineffective assistance is a mixed question of law and fact that courts review de novo on appeal.

State v. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d 870, 883, 204 P.3d 916 (2009).

The first prong of the Strickland test is not at issue in this appeal. This Court held that if Khan needed an interpreter, his attorney necessarily performed deficiently in failing to request one. In re Pers. Restraint of Khan, 184 Wn.2d 679, 690, 363 P.3d 577 (2015). The second prong of the Strickland test is met because the record shows Khan would have answered questions at trial more accurately and directly, and, therefore, more credibly, with an interpreter. This Court should grant review, reverse the trial court's ruling, and grant Khan's personal restraint petition for three main reasons. First, the Court of Appeals erred in failing to apply de novo review to a question of law. Second, the court erred in refusing to acknowledge that the impact on the jury's perception of credibility can amount to prejudice under the Strickland standard. Finally, the court erred in affirming the superior court's rejection of Khan's evidence of prejudice on the grounds that it was speculative.

a. <u>Prejudice caused by ineffective assistance is a question of law reviewed de novo.</u>

First, the Court of Appeals failed to apply the correct standard of review under State v. Lopez, 190 Wn.2d 104, 126, 410 P.3d 1117 (2018).

The Court of Appeals found the lack of prejudice finding was supported by substantial evidence, namely, the testimony by those present at Khan's trial that he seemed to understand and answer appropriately. Slip op. at 15. But the ultimate question of prejudice, whether there was a reasonable probability that that outcome of the trial was affected, is a question of law that should be reviewed de novo on appeal. Lopez, 190 Wn.2d at 126. Under Lopez, while the existence of an adverse effect from counsel's errors may be a factual question, it is a legal conclusion whether that adverse effect amounted to prejudice. Id. Courts apply the appropriate standard of review on appeal even when a trial court has incorrectly labelled a legal conclusion as a factual finding. Mid-Town Ltd. Partnership v. Preston, 69 Wn. App. 227, 232, 848 P.2d 1268 (1993). Review is warranted under RAP 13.4 (b)(1) because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Lopez.

b. Prejudice can arise from inaccurate translation when it causes the jury to have a negative perception of the defendant's credibility.

Second, the court erred in finding no prejudice on the grounds that Khan did not show he would have done anything differently with an interpreter. See CP 15. The Strickland standard requires a reasonable probability of a different outcome, not a specifically different act by a defendant or defense counsel. See, e.g., Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694;

Burlingame, 3 Wn. App. 2d at 608, 611. The evidence at the reference hearing met this test.

Absent counsel's error, Khan would have had an interpreter. In one sense, with an interpreter, he would have done precisely what he did – attempt to answer the questions put to him to the best of his ability. Khan showed that, with an interpreter, he would have answered more accurately the first time, and that such accuracy had a reasonable probability of affecting his credibility and, therefore, the outcome of the trial. With a competent interpreter, the "misunderstandings and miscommunications" identified by Stansell and Leonard would not have occurred. RP 171. Khan's answers would have been more precise. RP 171. He would not have been seen as contradicting himself and making nonsensical statements. Khan's answers and intended meaning would not have necessitated clarification after he appeared to make contradictory and obviously false statements. Most importantly, the prosecutor would not have been able to seize on these misunderstandings and miscommunications to argue he was not credible.

The likelihood of a different outcome with an interpreter arises less from Khan's actions than from the jury's perception of his actions. The language barrier caused misunderstandings and miscommunications during Khan's testimony that made him appear deceitful or evasive. RP 96. The prosecutor used this to argue in closing that Khan was not credible. Ex. 16

(11/29/07RP 63). Furthermore, she admitted this argument was useful to her case. RP 311. This evidence gives rise to a reasonable probability that, with an interpreter, the jury would have had a better perception of Khan's credibility and would have arrived at a different verdict.

To reject the possibility of this type of prejudice, as the superior court did at the reference hearing, raises a conflict with <u>State v. Aljaffar</u>, 198 Wn. App. 75, 86-87, 392 P.3d 1070, <u>rev. denied</u>, 188 Wn.2d 1021 (2017). In <u>Aljaffar</u>, the Court of Appeals recognized the potential that poor quality interpretation could affect the jury's verdict by affecting the jury's perception of the defendant's credibility. <u>Id.</u> at 89.

Like Khan, Aljaffar testified at his trial, but the interpreter was not certified. <u>Id.</u> at 78-79. As in this case, the question of prejudice was remanded for a reference hearing. <u>Id.</u> at 80. After the hearing, the court concluded the numerous discrepancies in the translation, "did not alter the content of Mr. Aljaffar's message to the jury or his proffered defense." <u>Id.</u> at 82.

The Court of Appeals held Aljaffar's statutory right to a certified interpreter was violated but found the question of prejudice more difficult. Id. at 86. Ultimately, the court relied on the trial court's careful assessment at the reference hearing of the impact of the errors on Aljaffar's credibility. The court recognized, "Given the fact that Mr. Aljaffar testified and placed his

credibility before the jury, inadequate interpretation could have impacted the jury's verdict." <u>Id.</u> at 89.

Nevertheless, after careful review of the record, the court found no prejudice because the only errors in the translation were that the interpreter often spoke of Aljaffar in the third person, rather than offering a verbatim translation of his first-person account, and sometimes paraphrased or explained, rather than directly translating. <u>Id.</u> There was no sign that explanatory phrasing or use of the third person impacted the jury's assessment of Aljaffar's credibility. <u>Id.</u> at 88-89. The court correctly recognized that an impact on the defendant's perceived credibility could constitute prejudice; it simply did not in Aljaffar's case. <u>Id.</u>

Here, the errors did impact Khan's credibility. Khan's errors made him appear to be intentionally giving false testimony. Ex. 14 (11/28/07RP 340, 358, 371, 372). The State ensured this negative impression remained firmly in place, relying on the "erection" confusion to argue Khan was not credible. Ex. 16 (11/29/07RP 63). The prosecutor would not have mentioned this in closing if she did not view it as material to the jury's credibility determination. Her testimony confirmed it was a significant part of her argument. RP 311.

The trial court's requirement that Khan show what he would have done differently, rather than show an impact on the jury's perception of his Pers. Restraint of Khan, 184 Wn.2d 679, 692, 363 P.3d 577 (2015) ("This is likely in part a consequence of the high level of abstraction with which Khan is approaching this issue, rather than drilling down into how the lack of an interpreter caused him prejudice by demonstrating what specifically he would have done differently had he understood the proceedings or questions."). This Court should grant review to resolve the apparent conflict between that case and Aljaffar. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2). This Court should also grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4); it is an issue of substantial public interest and an important constitutional question to clarify how the Strickland standard is applied when prejudice results from the impact of deficient performance on the jury's perception of the defendant rather than from his specific conduct.

c. Evidence of prejudice caused by ineffective assistance of counsel is inherently speculative and the court erred in rejecting Khan's evidence on that basis.

Third, the court erred in dismissing Khan's expert testimony about the likely effect on the jury as mere speculation. CP 19. The nature of the prejudice inquiry in a case of ineffective assistance of counsel is inherently speculative. The court must imagine an alternate reality in which counsel acted effectively in engaging an interpreter for his client. The court must then imagine how the trial would have proceeded and how the jury would

have perceived those proceedings to determine whether there is a reasonable probability of a different outcome.

An inquiry as to what would have happened without counsel's errors is always inherently speculative. This Court recently recognized this in <u>State v. Gregory</u>, 192 Wn.2d 1, 21-22, 427 P.3d 621 (2018). This Court explained the standard for prejudice from ineffective assistance of counsel saying, "We do not expect the defendant to present statistical evidence of the outcome of hypothetical trials with a more effective attorney and compare it to the original trial, controlling for all other variables." Id. at 22.

Moreover, the prosecutor's closing argument is not speculation. She argued:

I don't get erections. That's what he said the first time. Later he said – and I asked him again, You don't get erections? No, I don't get erections. That wasn't natural or credible. He was trying to say whatever he can to make himself look better. Later he said, well, I did have the children, so in the bedroom. But apparently his erections are limited to that place. I would submit to you that that is not credible. His testimony in general was not credible. It's not supported by any of the other evidence, and he was caught not telling the truth a couple of times or being confused.

Ex. 16 (11/29/07RP 63). She used the miscommunications that resulted from the lack of an interpreter to urge the jury not to believe Khan. RP 311. Review should be granted as a matter of public interest to clarify the constitutional standard for how courts gauge the prejudice caused by

ineffective assistance of counsel. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). Additionally, review is warranted because the decision below conflicts with <u>Gregory</u>. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The Court of Appeals' decision is in conflict with decisions by this Court and the Court of Appeals, and this case presents significant constitutional issues and issues of public interest. RAP 13.4(b). Therefore, Khan asks this Court to grant review and grant his personal restraint petition.

DATED this $\frac{5}{100}$ day of December, 2019.

Respectfully submitted,

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC

JENNIFER J. SWEIGERT, WSBA No. 38068

Office ID No. 91051 Attorney for Appellant