FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/6/2020 1:12 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97953-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

ZAHID AZIZ KHAN,

Petitioner.

CORRECTED ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ADAM CORNELL Prosecuting Attorney

SETH A FINE Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The State of Washington, respondent, asks that review be denied. If review is nonetheless granted, the State asks the court to review the issue designated in part II.

II. ISSUE CONDITIONALLY RAISED BY RESPONDENT

In its previous opinion in this case, this court said if the defendant required an interpreter, his counsel was deficient for failing to obtain one. This determination was based on the assumption that the defendant may have required an interpreter because he lacked the ability to *understand* many of the questions asked of him.

On remand, however, the court found that the defendant could understand the questions. The court determined that the defendant nonetheless had a statutory right to an interpreter because he spoke in broken English and sometimes strained to find the right words to express himself. If this court grants review, should it reconsider its decision that counsel's failure to obtain an interpreter constituted deficient performance?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts are accurately set out in the Court of Appeals opinion.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. IN LIGHT OF THE REMAND COURT'S FINDING THAT THE DEFENDANT UNDERSTOOD THE TRIAL PROCEEDINGS, THE ISSUE OF WHETHER HE SUFFERED PREJUDICE FROM HIS "BROKEN ENGLISH" DOES NOT WARRANT REVIEW.

In his personal restraint petition, the defendant's¹ primary claim was that he needed an interpreter because he did not understand the questions he was asked. P.R.P. at 6-9. This court determined that the defendant's need for an interpreter could not be determined from the record. In re Khan, 184 Wn.2d 679, 689-90 ¶ 13, 363 P.3d 577 (2015). The court also noted that the defendant had failed to show "how the lack of an interpreter caused him prejudice by demonstrating what specifically he would have done differently had he understood the proceedings or questions." Id. at 692 ¶ 17. Nonetheless, "[g]enerously construing his arguments and based on our own review of the record," the court found sufficient grounds to warrant a reference hearing on prejudice. Id. ¶ 18.

On remand, the defendant did almost nothing to remedy these problems. He did not himself testify to any lack of

¹ In the course of these proceedings, Zahid Khan has had several different designations. He was defendant at the original trial, petitioner in the personal restraint proceedings, appellant in the appeal following the remand, and now again petitioner in this court. For simplicity, he will be referred to in this Answer as "defendant."

understanding. Nor did he call any witness who was present at his trial. Instead, he called two witnesses who based their conclusions on the trial transcript. 1 RP 80, 126. His only other witness acknowledged that she knew nothing about the defendant's proficiency in *spoken* English. 1 RP 58-59.

In contrast, the State introduced the testimony of three witnesses who had been present at the defendant's trial: defense counsel, the judge, and the prosecutor. Defense counsel had also met with the defendant in jail five times and had 18 or more telephone conversations with him. 2 RP 198-99. He testified that based on the defendant's interactions with him, it appeared that he was understanding 100 percent. 2 RP 225-26. Both the judge and the prosecutor testified that they did not observe anything that caused them concern about the defendant's ability to understand what was happening. 2 RP 243-44, 292-93.

The remand court found that "the defendant was able to readily comprehend the questions that were asked of him and make himself understood while testifying." CP 15, Finding no. 1. The court also found that although the defendant spoke in "broken English," he was "nonetheless able to clearly express his defense." Id., finding no. 3. The court concluded that the defendant had no

constitutional right to an interpreter. <u>Id.</u>, conclusion no. 1. Because of his "broken English," he had a *statutory* right to an interpreter. CP 16, conclusion no. 2. The defendant had, however, failed to establish any "reasonable probability that the result of the trial would have been different if the defendant had been provided an interpreter." CP 15, finding no. 5.

The Petition for Review largely ignores the remand court's findings. Instead, it relies on "misunderstandings and miscommunications" that the remand court rejected. PRV at 11. As the Court of Appeals held, the remand court's findings are supported by the record. The Petition does not explain why that holding is wrong — or why the correctness of a case-specific factual determination warrants review by this court.

The Petition complains about his supposed misunderstanding of the word "erection." PRV at 15. His trial testimony showed that he knew exactly what this word means: "when I sleep with [my wife], without erection I cannot do my – make my kids." Ex. 14 at 394. In its memorandum decision, the remand court said that any confusion over this word "appeared to stem from defendant's persistent denial that he had been in the presence of the children while in an erect state rather than any

misunderstanding of the word." CP 20. There is no reason to believe that use of an interpreter would have solved that problem.

In light of the findings made on remand, this case presents a narrow, case-specific issue: whether there is a reasonable probability that the defendant's "broken English" affected the outcome of the proceedings. The court found that notwithstanding his broken English, the defendant was "able to clearly express his defense." CP 15, finding no. 3. In light of this finding, both the remand court and the Court of Appeals determined that there was no reasonable probability that an interpreter would have changed the result of the trial. CP 15, finding no. 5; slip op. at 16. This fact-specific determination does not warrant review by this court.

B. IF THIS COURT GRANTS REVIEW, IT SHOULD RECONSIDER ITS DECISION THAT COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE WAS DEFICIENT, SINCE THAT DECISION WAS BASED ON THE ERRONEOUS PREMISE THAT THE DEFENDANT DID NOT UNDERSTAND THE PROCEEDINGS.

If this court nonetheless grants review, it should take the opportunity to reconsider one of its prior conclusions in light of the new findings. In its previous opinion, this court held that "[i]f in fact Khan's English language skills were such that he required an interpreter, his counsel was deficient for failing to obtain one."

Khan, 184 Wn.2d at 690 ¶ 13. That holding was, however, based

on the premise that the lack of an interpreter "deprived Khan of the ability to understand many of the questions he was asked on the stand and likely deprived him of the ability to understand many other aspects of the trial." <u>Id.</u> at 690-91 ¶ 14. As discussed above, the findings entered on remand show that this premise is incorrect. CP 15, findings nos. 1-2.

In light of these findings, the issue of deficient performance raises a substantially different question than the one that this court previously answered. The question is not, "Can a reasonable defense attorney allow his client to testify, when language difficulties prevent that client from understanding the questions?" Rather, the question is, "Can a reasonable defense attorney allow his client to testify *in his own words*, when those words contain 'broken English' but nonetheless clearly express the client's defense?"

This question presents very different tactical considerations than the question that this court previously answered. The defendant's constitutional right to testify includes his "right to present his own version of events in his own words." Rock v. Arkansas, 483 U.S. 44, 52, 107 S. Ct. 2704, 97 L. Ed. 2d 37 (1987). As this court has recognized in a different context, another person

may not be able to speak for the defendant as persuasively "as the defendant might, with halting eloquence, speak for himself." State v. Canfield, 154 Wn.2d 698, 703 ¶ 5, 116 P.3d 391 (2005) (discussing common law right of allocution). Under the circumstances of this case, use of a translator would have traded a constitutional right for a statutory one. The defendant would have given up the constitutional right to testify in his own words, in exchange for the statutory right to assistance in communicating in the English language. See CP 16, conclusion no. 2. Although there may be benefits in such an exchange, this court has no basis for saying that a reasonable attorney must always advise his client to do so. If this court decides to grant review of the defendant's issue, it should consider whether such a tactical decision is necessarily deficient performance.

V. CONCLUSION

The petition for review should be denied.